**RECEIVED**

**Nov 18 2022**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Newberry County

Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

---

TOABY ALEXANDER TRAPP,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000283

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

JESSICA M. SAXON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

### **I.**

Whether the PCR Court erred in finding trial counsel provided effective representation where trial counsel did not perform any independent investigation into the facts and circumstances of the case, did not discuss the discovery and evidence with Petitioner, and admitted that he was not prepared to handle critical evidentiary matters in the case?

### **II.**

Whether the PCR Court erred in finding trial counsel provided effective representation when counsel failed to ensure that Petitioner was informed and questioned about his right to testify where Petitioner wanted to testify in his own defense and where Petitioner did not voluntarily and intelligently waive his right to testify?

### **III.**

Whether the PCR Court erred in finding trial counsel provided effective representation when counsel did not call Petitioner to testify during the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing and where Petitioner wanted to testify and where counsel had no strategic reason to excuse the failure to call Petitioner to testify?

## STATEMENT

On October 8, 2011, at approximately 10:00 p.m., Officer Brad Epps with the Newberry County Sheriff's Office responded to a report of a burglary at the home of Toaby Trapp, Petitioner. App. 145, l. 19-App. 146, l. 25. Petitioner informed Epps that about \$7,000.00 that he had stored in a shoebox in his closet had been stolen.<sup>1</sup> Epps observed that the rear door to the home had been pried open and that Petitioner's bedroom had been ransacked. Based on the scene, Epps requested the on-call investigator respond to Petitioner's home. App. 147, l. 2-App. 148, l. 19.

Investigator Robert Spreng<sup>2</sup> was the on-call investigator dispatched to the scene. App. 147, ll. 12-14; App. 191, ll. 13-15. According to Epps, after Spreng arrived on scene he walked into Petitioner's bedroom to look around and noticed a pill bottle with suspected crack cocaine sitting in plain view on the dresser. App. 154, l. 24-App. 155, l. 3; App. 168, ll. 16-18. Upon discovering the suspected drugs, Spreng contacted Nick Bouknight<sup>3</sup>, who was the narcotics investigator for the Sheriff's Office at that time. Bouknight advised Spreng to stop processing the scene while he obtained a search warrant for Petitioner's home. Both Spreng and Bouknight contacted their Lieutenant, Investigator Robert Dennis, who also responded to the scene. App. 191, ll. 7-22; App. 193, l. 20-App. 194, l. 7.

Dennis and Bouknight executed the search warrant on Petitioner's home. During the search the officers recovered, among other items, the pill bottle with suspected crack cocaine

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner additionally reported that a piggy bank and a large beer bottle, both filled with various coins and dollars, had been stolen. App. 148, ll. 15-19.

<sup>2</sup> At the time of Petitioner's trial, Spreng was no longer employed with the Newberry County Sheriff's Office and was believed to be living somewhere in Florida. App. 149, ll. 5-19.

<sup>3</sup> Investigator Bouknight passed away prior to trial. App. 193, ll. 1-11.

found on the dresser, two plastic baggies with suspected crack cocaine from in front of the dresser, a digital scale with white residue, and a spoon with white residue. App. 200, l. 12-App. 201, l. 6; App. 237, ll. 1-12. The suspected crack cocaine was sent to SLED for analysis. The drug analysis confirmed that the substance in the pill bottle and the two baggies was crack cocaine weighing a total of 21.3 grams. App. 267, ll. 9-24; App. 282, ll. 2-24.

Petitioner was subsequently indicted by the March 2012 Newberry County Grand Jury for one count of trafficking crack cocaine, 10-28 grams. App. 534-535. On October 30-31, 2014, the State, represented by Dale Scott and Taylor Daniel, called the case for trial before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., and a jury. Petitioner was represented by Dietrich Lake.<sup>4</sup> App. 1. Prior to the start of trial, the court held a hearing pursuant to *Jackson v. Denno*<sup>5</sup> to determine the voluntariness of a statement Petitioner purportedly gave to Investigator Dennis. Dennis testified that Petitioner was handcuffed in investigative detention by the time that he arrived on scene. He provided Petitioner with his *Miranda*<sup>6</sup> warnings partly from memory and partly from a card he carried in his wallet. Dennis stated that Petitioner replied that he understood his rights and when asked by Dennis if he was willing to speak with him, Petitioner nodded his head yes. App. 112, l. 1-App.114, l. 11.

After being advised of his rights, Dennis asked Petitioner about the narcotics found in his bedroom. Petitioner purportedly replied that he had forgotten the drugs were in the room and admitted that the bottle contained crack cocaine. When asked how he could have forgotten the

---

<sup>4</sup> Petitioner was represented by Dennis Bolt from the time of the incident in 2011 until Mr. Bolt retired due to personal and health problems in 2014. Counsel Lake was hired October 1, 2014. App. 125-127; App. 430-431.

<sup>5</sup> 378 U.S. 368 (1964)

<sup>6</sup> 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

drugs, Petitioner said when he called 911 to report the burglary that he was told not to touch anything and to wait outside for law enforcement, which is what he had done. App. 115, ll. 10-23; App. 116, ll. 5-7. Dennis testified that after the execution of the search warrant, he asked Petitioner about the two baggies that had been found in front of the dresser and Petitioner acknowledged that the baggies also contained crack cocaine. At that point, Dennis stated they talked to Petitioner about trying “to work with him a little bit.” App. 116, ll. 12-20.

On cross-examination Dennis admitted that he did not prepare any documentation that showed Petitioner being read, acknowledging, and waiving his *Miranda* rights, he did not prepare a report, and was testifying primarily from his memory and the report of Bouknight. Dennis admitted that Petitioner was not taken into custody the night of the incident because he was going to cooperate with law enforcement. App. 117, l. 24-App. 119, l.19. No other witnesses were called to testify at the hearing. The trial court ultimately found the statement was voluntarily made and was admissible at trial. App. 125, ll. 11-12.

Following the *Denno* hearing, Counsel Lake informed the trial court that Petitioner was requesting a continuance to give him “an opportunity as his attorney I guess to counsel him a little bit more in this particular case.” App. 125, ll. 18-25. Counsel Lake went on to state that he had been hired on October 1 and that Petitioner wanted him to make the continuance motion so that he would have “a little bit more time to make sure that I’ve done it thoroughly, explained everything to him and things of that sort. So that’s my motion.” App. 126, ll. 1-App. 127, l. 3. The trial court denied the motion for continuance finding that although Counsel Lake was new to the case, he was an experienced attorney. App. 127, ll. 4-14.

At the conclusions of the State’s case, Counsel Lake made a motion for a directed verdict, which was denied. The trial court inquired whether Counsel Lake intended to put up any

evidence to which Counsel Lake responded he did not. The parties then moved directly into closing arguments. App. 317, l. 22-App. 320, l. 18. At no point was Petitioner ever advised of his right to testify or given an opportunity to assert his right to testify. Petitioner was found guilty as indicted and sentenced to twenty-five years imprisonment and a \$50,000 fine. App. 350, ll. 3-9; App. 356, ll. 15-20.

Petitioner appealed his conviction and sentence. Following oral argument, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence in a published opinion. *State v. Trapp*, 420 S.C. 217, 801 S.E.2d 742 (Ct. App. 2017). Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on April 9, 2018. App. 360-368. The State filed a return and motion for a more definite statement dated July 10, 2018. App. 371-375. Petitioner, through PCR Counsel Ashley McMahan, filed an amended application dated October 6, 2019. App. 376-378. A second amended application was filed on October 12, 2021. App. 380-381. The State filed an amended return dated October 22, 2021. App. 383-406.

An evidentiary hearing was convened via WebEx before the Honorable R. Kirk Griffin on October 26, 2021. Petitioner was represented by Ashely McMahan. The State was represented by Michael Neubauer. App. 407. At the hearing, Petitioner proceeded forward on all the claims contained in his original PCR application and in both amended applications. App. 413-417.

Petitioner testified that the only time he met with Counsel Lake was when he hired him. Prior to trial they never met to discuss the case. He stated Counsel Lake was his attorney for twenty-eight days. Counsel Lake did not have enough time to investigate the case or prepare for trial, and never discussed the case or evidence with Petitioner. App. 429, l. 25-App. 430, l. 12; App. 435, ll. 10-25; App. 440, ll. 2-25. Petitioner testified on cross examination that the only

communication he had with Counsel Lake prior to trial was a phone call about a bench warrant that had been issued and then lifted. App. 445, ll. 14-22. He maintained that they did not review the discovery in the case, and that he only received a copy of his discovery once he was prison. App. 445, l. 23-App. 446, l. 1.

Petitioner testified that Counsel Lake should have subpoenaed the digital camera used to document the scene in order to show the order and timing of the pictures. He maintained the pill bottle was not in plain view and that the sequence of the pictures would show it was not on the dresser when officers originally arrived on scene. He believed if Counsel Lake could have shown the court the actual timing of the photographs that the search warrant would have to have been suppressed. App. 419, l. 3-App. 420, l. 25.

Petitioner stated that this case was the first time he had ever gone through a trial. App. 425, ll. 16-18; App. 446, ll. 10-11. Petitioner told Counsel Lake he wanted to testify both during the *Denno* hearing and during the actual trial. Regarding the *Denno* hearing Petitioner maintained that Dennis did not provide him with his *Miranda* warning, that he did not confess to the drugs, and that he should have been able to take the stand to counter that testimony. App. 424, ll. 3-12; App. 443, ll. 13-22. Petitioner also thought it was important that the jury hear his side of the story. Petitioner stated that when there were breaks during trial that he would talk to Counsel Lake about testifying, but Counsel Lake told him he did not want Petitioner to testify because Petitioner could open the door for things to come in, such as his prior convictions. App. 424, l. 12-App. 426, l. 11; App. 429, ll. 7-22.

No one questioned Petitioner about whether he wanted to testify or talked about his right to testify. App. 446, ll. 2-8. Petitioner testified that he never waived his right to testify and that he would have taken the stand in his own defense despite Counsel Lake's advice. App. 427, ll.

13-App, 429, l. 6; App. 450, ll. 8-19. On cross-examination, Petitioner stated that Counsel Lake did not talk to him about his right to testify or remain silent and only ever said he did not want him testifying because his prior convictions could be used against him. App. 446, ll. 2-8. Once Counsel Lake told him that he did not want him testifying Petitioner “just left it there” because he had never been through a trial and did not know any better. App. 446, ll. 17-22. Petitioner consistently testified that neither the trial court nor Counsel Lake talked with him about his right to testify.

Counsel Lake testified that he received the discovery in the case the Friday before trial. The discovery he received was not complete and he brought that to the attention of the solicitor the Monday and Wednesday prior to trial. The photographs that were critical to Petitioner’s case were not provided to him until Wednesday evening and he printed them Thursday as he was going to court to start the trial. He stated that the incomplete discovery was the basis of his continuance motion. App. 457, ll. 3-19; App. 484, ll. 4-21. When asked about meeting with Petitioner, Counsel Lake stated that he thought he had met with him once the Friday before trial, and that he might have talked to him that day. He testified that if he had spoken to him that day, it had not been an extensive conversation because he still did not have all of the discovery. App. 460, ll. 18-23.

Counsel Lake admitted that the sequence and timing of the pictures showing the dresser was critical to Petitioner’s case. He stated he had asked the solicitor if the photographs were sent to him in order and that initially the State said yes but then changed its position. He inquired about the location of the digital camera; however, he did not subpoena it and it was not present for Petitioner’s trial. Counsel Lake noted that after Petitioner’s trial he began sending

“something” to the sheriff’s office requesting they preserve the digital camera and sequencing of photographs taken at a scene. App. 468, l. 15-App. 469, l. 25.

Counsel Lake testified that he did not reach out to any of the State’s witnesses prior to trial because he did not know who they were since he had not received full discovery. App. 461, ll. 16-24. He knew Bouknight would not be at trial because he had passed away, but he did not know that Spreng was unavailable for trial until the day trial began. App. 460, ll. 4-14. Counsel Lake stated that he did not think he would have interviewed the officers prior to trial because he expected the officers would testify to their reports. However, once he realized Spreng was not available for trial he testified that he would have wanted to speak with him and Dennis prior to trial. App. 462, ll. 4-10.

Counsel Lake testified that he would have cautioned Petitioner and recommended that he not testify at trial because he could open the door to certain things. App. 464, l. 18-App. 465, l. 2. Regarding the *Denno* hearing, Counsel Lake could not offer a reason for not calling Petitioner to testify and stated that they probably would have talked about Petitioner testifying but did not remember any specific conversation. App. 465, ll. 11-21. Counsel Lake could not recall whether Petitioner had indicated to him that he wanted to testify and repeated that they probably would have talked about if he should testify sometime during pretrial. App. 470, l. 12-App. 471, l. 8. Counsel Lake did not offer a reason for failing to have the trial court question Petitioner about his right to testify but stated that “it [the case] just kind of flowed” into closing arguments. App. 474, ll. 9-21.

On cross-examination Counsel Lake admitted that he did not have a lot of time to do some of the things that he would normally do in a case. He maintained he did not specifically recall Petitioner saying he wanted to testify but stated he always talked to his clients about

whether they should testify. App. 476, l. 16-App. 477, l. 7. He confirmed that he would have advised Petitioner against testifying because he was worried about him opening the door to things during cross-examination but that he was not concerned with prior convictions being a source of character evidence. App. 477, l. 8-App. 478, l. 16. Counsel Lake also testified on cross-examination that he received discovery late, that he had not received everything in the case, and that he was scrambling trying to get the case continued. App. 480, ll. 3-10.

On re-direct examination Counsel Lake stated that based on things that became an issue during trial, he would have wanted more time to prepare. There were things he felt he was prepared for and things that he felt he was not prepared for. He further stated he had expected to receive full discovery prior to going to trial and that having had adequate time with the discovery would have impacted whether the case even made it to a trial. Counsel Lake admitted that he was not prepared to handle the State's inability to produce the camera or provide date/time information for the photographs to show the order that they were taken in, nor was he prepared to handle the scope of testimony provided by Dennis due to Spreng's absence from trial. App. 482, l. 19-App. 483, l. 23.

At the end of the hearing the PCR court took the matter under advisement. App. 494, ll. 4-13. An order of dismissal was filed on February 18, 2022. App. 496-532. Regarding Counsel Lake's failure to investigate and prepare for trial, the PCR court ruled that Petitioner had failed to present any evidence of what Counsel Lake could have done in further preparation for trial and that he had not shown how he was prejudiced by Counsel Lake's performance in the case. The PCR court also found that Counsel Lake spoke with applicant regarding the discovery he received and that Counsel Lake's assumption that the officers would testify consistent with their reports was a valid reason for failing to interview them. The PCR court also intimated any

prejudice from counsel's failure to prepare should be attributed to Petitioner because he "hired counsel less than a month before [Petitioner's] trial" and Counsel attempted to continue the case but was unsuccessful. App. 504-509.

Regarding Counsel Lake's failure to ensure Petitioner was questioned about his right to testify, the PCR court found that the record did not contain evidence that Petitioner was questioned about his right to testify at trial. The PCR court found that this was excusable because Counsel Lake credibly testified that Petitioner never indicated a desire to testify and because the trial court instructed the jury at the start of the case that Petitioner was not required to testify in his own defense. The PCR court ruled that Petitioner had failed to show how he was deprived of his right to testify because the trial court asked Counsel Lake if he intended to put up a case and Counsel Lake responded no. The PCR court found Petitioner was not prejudiced because he was given the opportunity to testify and ultimately decided not to exercise that right. App. 526-528.

Regarding the *Denno* hearing, the PCR court found that Counsel Lake did not articulate a reason for failing to call applicant during the *Denno* hearing. However, the PCR court excused this failure by finding that Counsel Lake had spoken with Petitioner and used those conversations to challenge the admissibility of Petitioner's statement, raising all possible arguments for suppression of Petitioner's statement. The PCR court further ruled that Petitioner had not established prejudice because he did not present evidence which would suggest that the trial court's decision would have changed had he testified. App. 517-519.

## ARGUMENT

“The Sixth Amendment guarantees every criminal defendant the reasonably effective assistance of counsel.” *Stone v. State*, 419 S.C. 370, 379, 798 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2017) *citing* U.S. CONST. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 683, (1984). “The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” *Strickland* at 686 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, “the defendant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient” and “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” *Id.*

“When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel’s assistance, the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” *Id.* at 687-688. “[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances.” *Id.* at 688. Concerning prejudice, “a defendant need not show that counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Rather, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Id.* at 694.

1.

The PCR Court erred in finding trial counsel provided effective representation where trial counsel did not perform any independent investigation into the facts and circumstances of the case, did not discuss the discovery and evidence with Petitioner, and admitted that he was not prepared to handle critical evidentiary matters in the case.

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