STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to the Newberry County  
Hon. R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2022-000283  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

**Apr 19 2023**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Toaby Alexander Trapp,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

The PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to meet his burden that further investigation would have produced any evidence or testimony which would have led to a different result at trial. Petitioner raises mere speculation regarding the outcome of any investigation and has not met his burden of establishing any prejudice resulted from any deficiency.

Counsel’s performance under the first prong of the Strickland test is judged under the standard of “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. “A criminal defense attorney has the duty to conduct a reasonable investigation to discover all reasonably available mitigation evidence and all reasonably available evidence tending to rebut any aggravating evidence introduced by the State.” McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 46, 661 S.E.2d 354, 360 (2008). The South Carolina Supreme Court has stated previously “criminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011). However, counsel need only interview potential witnesses “when it is reasonable to do so.” Id. at 457, 710 S.E.2d at 65. “In other words, counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691.

In this case, Petitioner alleges counsel was not prepared to defend Petitioner’s case because counsel did not interview witnesses or conduct an independent investigation. Petitioner asserts he should have interviewed multiple officers prior to trial, including Investigator Spreng who was not

present at trial. He maintains counsel failed to investigate the digital camera used to take photos of the crime scene which showed the pill bottle's location. He claims he further failed to have the photos investigated to determine the order in which they were taken because it *might* indicate the bottle was moved to the dresser from another location.

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate how he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to interview the officers prior to trial. Significantly, Petitioner never called Investigator Spreng to present any testimony which would have been beneficial to his case which counsel could have obtained with an interview. See Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995) (finding because the witnesses respondent claimed should have been contacted by trial counsel did not testify at the PCR hearing, respondent could not establish any prejudice from counsel's failure to contact the witnesses). Petitioner never presented the PCR court any evidence which would have refuted the testimony and evidence presented by the State at trial. Further, he failed to demonstrate any defense or other claim which could have been presented and would have had a reasonable probability of a different outcome had counsel spoken with the officer prior to trial. See Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 353-54, 495 S.E.2d 768, 772 (1998) (finding PCR judge erred in finding counsel ineffective in preparing respondent's case where respondent failed to show how his counsel's lack of preparation prejudiced him given respondent did not "present any evidence of what counsel could have discovered or what other defenses respondent would have requested counsel pursue had counsel more fully prepared for the trial"); Davis v. State, 326 S.C. 283, 288, 486 S.E.2d 747, 749 (1997) (holding record did not support PCR judge's conclusion that counsel's deficient performance was prejudicial to respondent given respondent did not show how additional preparation would have resulted in a different outcome). Counsel articulated he did not talk with officers generally because they all testified according to their reports, and he did not believe he

would have obtained anything useful from them. (App.462). Additionally, when Captain Dennis indicated he did not create a report, this fact was used both during the Jackson v. Denno hearing and at trial to question Captain Dennis' credibility and recollection of the events. As a result, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate any prejudice resulting from the failure to interview witnesses prior to trial.

In addition, Petitioner has failed to present any evidence regarding the digital camera or the photos of his bedroom which could have been uncovered through further investigation. At the PCR hearing and on appeal Petitioner speaks in terms of speculation of what the photographs and their sequence could have shown. He presented no evidence demonstrating any investigation would have shown a different sequence to the one presented at trial or that the pill bottle of drugs found was not found where multiple officers testified it was located. The PCR court correctly concluded: "Petitioner has failed to show what Counsel could have discovered, or what defenses Counsel could have pursued if he was given more time to prepare for this case." (App.509). Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of establishing that but for any deficiency on the part of counsel, there was a reasonable probability of a different outcome with his trial. See Harris v. State, 377 S.C. 66, 75, 659 S.E.2d 140, 145 (2008) (finding mere speculation and conjecture is insufficient to substantiate allegation that counsel's deficient performance was prejudicial to respondent) (citing Glover, 318 S.C. at 498, 458 S.E.2d at 540). Accordingly, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari as to Question I.

**II. The PCR court did not err in finding trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where counsel testified he and Petitioner discussed Petitioner’s right to testify and where Petitioner waived his right after counsel.**

The PCR court correctly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to have the trial court do an on the record waiver of Petitioner’s right to testify. Further, there is evidence demonstrating that Petitioner knew of his right to testify and waived it with assistance of counsel.

“The right of a criminally accused to testify or not to testify is fundamental.” State v. Rivera, 402 S.C. 225, 241, 741 S.E.2d 694, 702 (2013) (citing Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 52, 107 S.Ct. 2704, 97 L.Ed.2d 37 (1987)). “An on-the-record waiver of a constitutional or statutory right is but one method of determining whether the defendant knowingly and intelligently waived that right.” Brown v. State, 317 S.C. 270, 272, 453 S.E.2d 251, 252 (1994). The Supreme Court in Brown further stated “review of this issue is better left to a post-conviction relief proceeding where the facts surrounding the trial can be fully explored.” Id.

In this case, Petitioner asserted that he did not get an on the record, under oath colloquy regarding his right to testify. Most significantly, Petitioner never asserts he did not know he had a right to testify. Instead, he admitted discussing the right to testify with his counsel and his counsel articulating reasons why he would be better served not testifying at trial. (App.424; 446). Specifically, when asked whether Petitioner agreed he should not testify at trial, he admitted “I thought it was to the best ability, I mean, during the time, to listen to my attorney because I didn’t know better.” (App.446). He continued: “once he told me that . . . he don’t want me to get on the stand, I just left it like there.” (App. 446). Petitioner never asserted he did not understand he had a right to testify. Petitioner simply made the choice not to testify based on counsel’s advice. See Brown, 317 S.C. at 273 n.2, 453 S.E.2d at 252 n.2 (“The record reveals that the defendant actually

received competent advice from counsel and strategically decided not to testify. Thus, he was in no way prejudiced by the lack of an on-the-record waiver of his right to testify.”).

Additionally, the record belies any argument that Petitioner did not know he had a right to testify. The trial court, during opening instructions explained: “He may not testify. That’s his decision and his alone.” (App.128). Further, after his motion for directed verdict was denied, counsel was asked by the trial court: “Are you going to put anything up?” His counsel responded: “No, Sir.” (App.320). As a result, Petitioner clearly should have known he had a right to testify, the decision was his, and his counsel believed they had decided he would not testify.

Counsel testified he had no recollection of Petitioner indicating a desire to testify and that he would have recommended he not testify. (App.471; 477). Counsel testified he always talks with his client about testifying. He indicated it was up to Petitioner whether he would testify or not, but he recommended not to testify. (App.477). Further, Counsel articulated valid reasons to recommend Petitioner not testify (App.477-478). As a result, Petitioner has failed to establish his burden counsel was ineffective. “Failure to make the required showing of either deficient performance or sufficient prejudice defeats the ineffectiveness claim.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 700.

Further, Petitioner failed to proffer any testimony which would likely alter the outcome of the trial. Other than disavowing ownership of the drugs, Petitioner merely indicated he would be able to tell his own side of the story and would have helped his credibility by testifying. As a result, he has failed to demonstrate any prejudice from his failure to testify because he has not demonstrated how the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. “This Court has repeatedly held a PCR applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice from the witness' failure to testify at trial.” Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509

S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998). As a result, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari as to Question II.

**III. The PCR court did not err in finding trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where counsel testified he and Petitioner discussed Petitioner's right to testify at the Jackson v. Denno hearing and where Petitioner waived his right after counsel.**

The PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to establish how counsel's performance was deficient, or how Petitioner was prejudiced as a result of counsel's performance. Counsel made the strategic choice to challenge the statement while not exposing his client to the risk of cross-examination. Further, the PCR court clearly found Petitioner's testimony was not credible and concluded Petitioner failed to demonstrate prejudice from his failure to testify because the court specifically held Petitioner "has failed to present any evidence which would suggest that the [trial] court's decision would have changed if [Petitioner] were allowed to testify."

Under Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), a criminal defendant "is entitled to a reliable determination as to the voluntariness of his confession by a tribunal other than the jury charged with deciding his guilt or innocence." State v. Fortner, 266 S.C. 223, 226, 222 S.E.2d 508, 510 (1976). "A defendant in a criminal case is entitled to an independent evidentiary hearing to determine the voluntariness of statements made by the defendant prior to the submission of such statements to the jury." State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 382, 652 S.E.2d 444, 450 (Ct. App. 2007).

Further, "[trial c]ounsel's performance is accorded a favorable presumption, and a reviewing court proceeds from the rebuttable presumption that counsel 'rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.'" Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010). "Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. Therefore, "[j]udicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." Id. at 689. Strickland therefore established the rule that in proving a claim of

ineffectiveness, “the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action ‘might be considered sound trial strategy.’” Id. A strategic or tactical decision does not have to be articulated by counsel on the record; counsel doesn’t to have to personally identify his or her thinking. It is enough that the record show a basis for strategy, not that counsel announce that strategy on the record. Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290 (2010).

In this case, counsel articulated his belief he was more credibly able to attack the existence of a statement without placing Petitioner on the stand. Counsel testified he was able to establish through his examination of the officers that no one saw Miranda being given to Petitioner and that there was no report or record showing Miranda being given. (App.466). He believed he sufficiently challenged the existence of the Miranda warnings through the examination of the officers. He indicated “I didn’t know how much benefit he would get from testifying” in particular in light of the fact he would be subject to cross-examination. (App.464-465). As a result, counsel was not deficient in advising Petitioner not to testify and in not calling Petitioner to testify at the Jackson v. Denno hearing.<sup>1</sup>

Most significantly, the PCR court clearly found Petitioner’s testimony that he was never given Miranda to not be credible as the court found the testimony would not have caused the trial court to change its decision on the voluntariness of the statement. The appellate court should “afford great deference to a PCR court’s credibility findings.” Frierson v. State, 423 S.C. 257, 262, 815 S.E.2d 433, 435 (2018); Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993) (“We give great deference to a judge’s findings where matters of credibility are involved since we lack the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses.”).

---

<sup>1</sup> It should also be noted, counsel testified he would have talked with Petitioner about testifying at the Denno hearing, and counsel explained he had no recollection of Petitioner requesting to testify during the hearing. (App.465; 477).

Petitioner maintains the PCR court “could only speculate” in holding that Petitioner’s testimony would not have resulted in a different outcome for the Denno hearing. Determining whether there is a reasonable probability of a different outcome is exactly what the PCR court is called upon to do by Strickland. As noted above in order to prove prejudice, Petitioner must demonstrate counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced him such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability “sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. Thus, it is not enough “to show the errors had some conceivable effect” on the outcome of the proceeding—counsel’s errors must be “so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial.” Id. at 687 (emphasis added). In determining prejudice, the reviewing court must consider the totality of the evidence before the jury. Id. at 695.

In the instant case, the PCR court considered Petitioner’s testimony at the PCR hearing in light of the testimony presented during the Denno hearing prior to trial. Part of the consideration by the PCR court would necessarily be a determination of the credibility of Petitioner based on being able to directly observe him during the hearing. The PCR court would be required to consider whether, in light of its determination of Petitioner’s overall credibility, Petitioner’s testimony would have been likely to affect the decision made at the Denno hearing regarding whether he was read Miranda rights and whether his statement was knowing and voluntary. After considering the totality of the evidence before it, the PCR court concluded any possible deficiency was not sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the Denno hearing. This Court should find the holding supported by the overall evidence and deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari as to Question III.


**CONCLUSION**

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.